Trinity College Digital Repository

Senior Theses and Projects

Student Scholarship

Spring 2019

Amino Acid Functions in the Juxtamembrane Region of the Transmembrane Serrate Ligand, and Their Effects on Subcellular Localization of Serrate Protein.

Dulguunnaran Naranbat dnaranba@trincoll.edu

Follow this and additional works at: https://digitalrepository.trincoll.edu/theses

Part of the Integrative Biology Commons

Recommended Citation

Naranbat, Dulguunnaran, "Amino Acid Functions in the Juxtamembrane Region of the Transmembrane Serrate Ligand, and Their Effects on Subcellular Localization of Serrate Protein.". Senior Theses, Trinity College, Hartford, CT 2019.

Trinity College Digital Repository, https://digitalrepository.trincoll.edu/theses/773



TRINITY COLLEGE

AMINO ACID FUNCTIONS IN THE *JUXTAMEMBRANE* REGION OF THE TRANSMEMBRANE *SERRATE* LIGAND, AND THEIR EFFECTS ON SUBCELLULAR LOCALIZATION OF SERRATE PROTEIN.

BY

DULGUUNNARAN NARANBAT

A THESIS SUBMITTED TO

THE FACULTY OF THE DEPARTMENT OF BIOLOGY

IN CANDIDACY FOR THE BACCALAUREATE DEGREE

WITH HONORS IN BIOCHEMISTRY

DEPARTMENT OF BIOLOGY

HARTFORD, CONNECTICUT

1 MAY 2019

AMINO ACID FUNCTIONS IN THE *JUXTAMEMBRANE* REGION OF THE TRANSMEMBRANE *SERRATE* LIGAND, AND THEIR EFFECTS ON SUBCELLULAR LOCALIZATION OF SERRATE PROTEIN.

 $\mathbf{B}\mathbf{Y}$

DULGUUNNARAN NARANBAT

Honors Thesis Committee

Approved:

Robert J. Fleming, Advisor

Hebe M. Guardiola-Diaz

Susan M. Bush

Date: _____

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Section	Page number
Abstract	4
Introduction	
Cell-to-cell signaling mechanism: Notch signaling pathway	5
Structure of Notch receptor and ligands	8
Mechanism and regulation of Notch signaling	12
Activity of modified Serrate ligand's Juxtamembrane domain	20
Materials and Methods	
Drosophila Culture and Strains	28
Construction of Serrate DNA vectors	28
Genetic crossing and generation of expression lines	29
Preparation of specimen and preparation of clearing agent	29
Results	
Glycerol is a rapid tissue clearing agent	33
Different construct vectors display varied Serrate traffic patterns	36
Discussion	40
Acknowledgement	47
Literature Cited	48

ABSTRACT

The Notch signaling pathway is a highly conserved cell-to-cell signaling system that is present in eukaryotic animals. This pathway plays a significant role during animal development. The Notch gene codes for a protein that functions as a receptor belonging to the single-pass transmembrane protein group. The Notch receptors can interact with ligands that are also singlepass transmembrane proteins of the Delta/Serrate/Lag-2 (DSL) family of ligands. The regulation of the Notch signaling pathway can be controlled through different types of interactions with ligands such as *cis*-inhibition and *trans*-activation. The *trans*-activation interaction occurs when the receptor and ligand proteins, present in neighboring cells, interact. Ligand-receptor interactions can also take place within the cell and on the cell surface, and the cis-interactions can reduce or inhibit the ability of a cell to receive an activating signal from neighboring cells. In activation of Notch, ligands are trafficked through endocytosis and are often regulated by ubiquitin ligase. While it was found that Serrate, a ligand for Notch, is relevant for Notch activity, the importance of the specific localization of Serrate is much less well defined. We postulate that in order to successfully activate Notch, Serrate must be located on the cell surface, however, our data suggest that there may be other properties beyond Serrate localization on cell surface that dictate the activation of Notch. To test this, we analyzed the different locations of Serrate in cells expressing specific constructs, previously made in Fleming laboratory, with different amino acid lengths in the Juxtamembrane domain, a key component in the structure of Serrate for successful activation. The mechanisms of Notch activation by ligand endocytosis models such as the ligand-recycling model or classical endocytosis model can be the explanation for why Serrate is located on the cell surface while being unable to activate Notch.

INTRODUCTION

Cell-to-cell signaling mechanism: Notch signaling pathway

In living organisms, there are many ways that cells can communicate intercellularly. One well-studied method of cellular communication is cell-to-cell signaling. Cell signaling pathways are critical for cells to signal their surrounding neighbors to work together. This provides the overall mechanism for cells to perform important bodily processes that are necessary for survival (Reece and Neil, 2014). The specific cell signaling mechanism on which this study is focused is the *Notch* signaling pathway that plays an important role in organismal developmental changes. Notch is present in most multicellular eukaryotic organisms and when combined with other cellular factors it influences cell fate, differentiation, proliferation, and apoptotic events (Artavanis-Tsakonas, 1999). The Notch gene encodes a single-pass transmembrane receptor that is essential for successful cell signaling. It is evident that mutation or disruption of the Notch gene can cause numerous severe defects in the development of living organisms, including abnormal anterior-posterior polarity in vertebrate somites (Feller et al., 2008), because Notch signaling is essential for the regulation of polarity in eukaryotic cells. Notch signaling is also important for vertebrates to determine left-right asymmetry in embryonic development (Levin et al., 2005).

Mutations of the *Notch* gene can also lead to a number of different human diseases that may affect the development of the central nervous system (CNS), cardiovascular system, and endocrine system. Other *Notch* mutations have also been implicated in the formation and progression of cancers such as promotion of leukemia cell growth due to activation of anabolic pathways including ribosome and protein biosynthesis (Palomero at al., 2007). These mutations can cause abnormal developmental phenotypes that affect the liver, skeleton, heart, eye, face, kidney, and vasculature. Since *Notch* receptor proteins and their ligands are expressed in cells of the adult nervous system, Notch signaling plays an important role in the CNS throughout life. Additionally, mutations in either Notch receptor (NOTCH1) or CBF1/RBP-Jkappa (CBF1) of mice have deficits in spatial learning and memory (Costa et al., 2003). Patients who have Alzheimer's disease and mild cognitive impairment demonstrated statistically significant worsening of cognition when several γ -secretase inhibitors were employed, affecting *Notch* signaling (De Strooper, 2014). This is expected as γ -secretase plays an important role in S3 cleavage of the transmembrane domain of the *Notch* receptors and is crucial for activating *Notch* signaling pathways. When the γ -secretases are inhibited, the *Notch* signaling pathway cannot be activated since the S3 cleavage cannot be carried out successfully.

Mutations in either the ligand (Jagged1; JAG1) or the receptor (NOTCH2) can lead to autosomal dominant, multi-system Alagille syndromes, a genetic disorder that affects the liver, heart, and other body parts due to abnormalities in the bile duct or impairment in blood flow. Similarly, mutations in the ligand (Delta-like-3; DLL3) can cause autosomal recessive spondylocostal dysostosis, which is a type of bone developmental disease and mutations of the NOTCH2 receptor gene are also correlated with the development of Hajdu-Cheney syndrome, a dominant disorder causing focal bone destruction, osteoporosis, craniofacial morphology and renal cysts (Penton et al., 2012).

The majority of the studies done on *Notch* signaling are applicable across species since the *Notch* pathway is highly conserved. One of the reasons why *Drosophila melanogaster* is used as a model organism for *Notch* signaling research stems from the advantage of genetic simplicity for the pathway compared to other organisms. One of the key differences between mammalian systems and *Drosophila* is that the *Drosophila* genome contains only one gene copy of (NOTCH) that encodes for the Notch receptor, whereas the human genome contains four copies (NOTCH1 to 4; Kopan and Illigan 2009). Similarly, single copies of each ligand molecule, *Serrate* and *Delta*, are found in *Drosophila* while multiple copies of each ligand gene are typically found in mammals (Kumar et al., 2016). The Notch protein itself also differs between flies and mammals in that it has been demonstrated that mammalian Notch undergoes an early (S1) proteolytic cleavage mediated by a furin-like protease, which produces a cleaved yet linked two-piece receptor molecule prior to its placement on the cell membrane. In contrast, the majority of the Notch receptor protein found at the cell membrane in *Drosophila* consists of the single, uncleaved ~300 kDa full-length protein.

Despite the minor differences in the structural components of the Notch pathway between mammals and flies, *Drosophila* remains a popular genetic research species for a number of different reasons. Compared to many species it has a relatively short life cycle making it easy to grow and reproduce in a short amount of time, and it has a simple genome consisting of four pairs of chromosomes (Adams, 2000). Furthermore, model organisms such as *Drosophila*, can be used in a translational manner to study underlying mechanisms of Notch-related human diseases and to investigate the function of novel disease associated genes and variants (Salazar and Yamamoto, 2018). The majority of Notch research is still studied extensively on *Drosophila* mainly due to those reasons. My thesis will focus on Notch signaling in the *Drosophila* with the main emphasis on the *Serrate* ligand protein, specifically examining how the structural changes in the protein affect the subcellular localization of *Serrate* trafficking in cells.

Structure of the *Notch* receptor and ligands

As mentioned, the *Notch* gene codes for a protein that functions as a receptor belonging to the single-pass transmembrane protein group. The receptor can interact with ligands that are also single-pass transmembrane proteins, specifically the members of the Delta/Serrate/Lag-2 (DSL) family of ligands (Fehon et al., 1990). In order to have successful cell signaling, cells expressing the *Notch* receptors must be adjacent to the cells expressing the ligands. The *Notch* receptors have extracellular (NECD), intracellular (NICD) and transmembrane (TMD) domains (*Figure 1*).



Figure 1. The *Notch* receptor expressing cell. This figure shows the Notch Extracellular Domain (NECD) consisting of 36 Epidermal growth factor-like repeats (ELRs) and 3 LIN-12/Notch repeats (LNRs). Also shown are the transmembrane domain (TMD), and the Notch intracellular domain (NICD) consisting of a RBP_{jk} association module (RAM), 7 ankyrin-like repeats (ANKs), a nuclear localization signal (NLS), and proline-glutamate-serine-threonine–rich domain (PEST). All the domains make up the membrane bound receptor.

The *Notch* extracellular domain (NECD) is composed of small cysteine-rich motifs called epidermal growth factor-like repeats (ELRs). In one of the most common *Notch* receptors, NOTCH1, there are 36 contiguous ELRs where each ELR is composed of around 40 amino acids and its structure is defined by six conserved cysteine residues that form three conserved disulfide bonds (Rebay et al., 1991). It also contains a *lin12-Notch* region (LNR) that is also very cysteinerich. The ELRs are the key component of the Notch receptors' structure and maintenance. The *Delta* and *Serrate* ligand interactions with Notch are dependent on a number of different ELRs on the NECD. In the case of a successful interaction, the ELRs 11 and 12 (*Figure 1*) are considered necessary for Notch to interact with the *Serrate* or *Delta* ligands. They are sufficient to induce cells expressing *Notch* and *Delta* to aggregate (Rebay et al., 1991).

The *Notch* intracellular domain (NICD) on the other hand, contains several conserved sequence motifs. The NICD includes a RBP_{jk} (recombination signal binding protein) association module (RAM), which has high attraction for binding to specific transcriptional factors in the nucleus, a block of six CDC10, or ankyrin (ANK) repeats, one or two nuclear localization signals (NLS) which allows the NICD to go to the nucleus, a homopolymer repeat of glutamines (OPA domain) which is a non-conserved sequence with little or no known functionality, and a proline glutamate serine threonine rich (PEST) domain that is significantly important for the degradation of the NICD (Struhl and Adachi, 1998).

The *Notch* transmembrane domain (TMD) is a 21 amino acid long segment allowing a single pass through the cell membrane. The TMD is essential for connecting through the cellular membrane and locating the protein in place securely. When the receptor is attached to a ligand on an adjacent cell at the cell membrane, the signaling pathway becomes activated. During this process, Notch undergoes cleavage where the extracellular domain (NECD) is removed first and then the intracellular domain (NICD) later (Figure 3; Deatherage et al., 2015). An important step in activating the *Notch* signaling pathway is S3 cleavage of its transmembrane domain by γ -

secretase. It has been suggested that receptor and ligand interactions on the membrane play an important role in modulating *Notch* cleavage by γ -secretase (Wolfe et al., 1999).

The Notch receptor cannot activate the signaling pathway by itself, hence the Notch ligands are responsible for activation or inhibition of the pathway by interacting with the Notch receptor. The ligands in the DSL family are characterized by three related structural motifs: An N-terminal Delta, Serrate, Lag-2 domain (DSL), specialized tandem EGF repeats called the Delta and OSM-11-like protein domain (DOS; Komatsu et al., 2008), and ELRs similar to the ones found in Notch receptors (both calcium binding and non-calcium binding; Kopan and Iligan, 2009). Another ligand worth mentioning is *Jagged* which is a vertebrate homolog of a *Serrate* ligand (Serrate is found in Drosophila). The region defined by ELRs 4, 5 and 6 are conserved among Jagged family ligands and is known as the Notch Inhibitory Region (NIR), this region is crucial since removal of any of the 3 ELRs of the NIR will result in the loss of most inhibitory functions (Fleming et al., 2013). The main difference between the Jagged and Serrate ligands is that Jagged contains 16 ELRs while Serrate contains 14 and they both have a cysteine-rich domain. The Delta ligand in mammals, on the other hand, only has 8 or 9 ELRs without the cysteine-rich domain. The Jagged and Serrate ligands are transmembrane proteins; hence, they also have a transmembrane and intracellular domain (Figure 2).



Figure 2: The DSL ligands expressing cells. A. This figure shows the structure of *Serrate* ligand consisting of a Delta/Serrate/Lag-2 (DSL) domain, 14 epidermal growth factor-like repeats (ELRs) similar to the ones on *Notch* receptors, Notch inhibitory region (NIR) located at the 4th, 5th and 6th ELRs, and a Cysteine Rich Domain. **B.** The structure of the *Delta* ligand is similar to *Serrate* consisting of a DSL domain and 9 ELRs with the OSM-11-like protein domain (DOS) located at the 8th and 9th ELRs.

Mechanism and regulation of Notch signaling

The regulation of the *Notch* signaling pathway can be controlled through different types of interactions with ligands such as *trans*-activation and *cis*-inhibition. The *trans*-activation

interaction occurs when the receptor and ligand proteins present in neighboring cells interact (*Figure 3*). Ligand–receptor interactions can also take place within the same cell, and these *cis*-interactions can reduce or inhibit the ability of a cell to receive an activating signal from neighboring cells. This process is called *cis*-inhibition of the receptor by the ligand (Álamo et al., 2011; *Figure 4*).

In the case of *trans*-activation of receptor by ligand, where the transmembrane proteins are on neighboring cells, their interaction creates a conformational change that causes S2 cleavage of the *Notch* receptor by a metalloprotease (*Figure 3A*). The NECD is endocytosed by the cells expressing the ligand after the ligation is recognized by the receptors as soon as the S2 cleavage is initiated. Before Notch activation, the γ -secretase is normally blocked by the presence of the NECD, hence, after the NECD is endocytosed the γ -secretase interacts with and cleaves the NICD at the S3 site. The S2 cleavage, therefore, leads to the S3 cleavage as seen from *Figure 3B*. Overall, it is suggested that that S2 cleavage is a ligand-regulated step in the proteolytic cascade leading to Notch activation (Mumm et al., 2000). Following the release of an active NICD fragment through S3 cleavage, the NICD travels to the cell nucleus where the NICD links with a DNA binding protein. This interaction assembles a transcription complex that binds and activates the downstream target genes leading to the activation of the *Notch* pathway (Figure 3C; Kopan and Illigan 2009).



Figure 3. Regulation of *Notch* signaling pathways though *Trans*-activation ligand-receptor interactions. **A.** The *Notch* receptor recognizes and binds with the ligand (DSL) producing a conformational shift allowing for endocytosis and S2 cleavage of the NECD. **B.** S2 cleavage is then followed by S3 intramembrane cleavage of the NICD. **C.** Once released, the NICD is translocated to the nuclease to activate transcriptional activities.

Cis-inhibition happens when ligand and receptor are expressed within the same cell and ultimately reduces or inhibits the ability of a cell to receive an activating signal from neighboring cells. The exact location of where *cis*-inhibition is localized at the cellular level, however, is still not fully understood. There are a number of different suggested models for DSL ligand expressing cells to inhibit Notch. In the case of *Notch-Serrate* interactions, it is broadly suggested that *cis*-inhibition takes place at the cell surface during disruption of Notch signaling pathway (Glittenberg et al., 2006). This is supported since strong inhibition is observed for Serrate proteins such as Ser^{*LL} (Serrate protein construct with a change in the two leucines to alanines; Glittenberg et al., 2006), which are defective for endocytosis and accumulate Notch at the cell surface. Also, *cis*-inhibition is often enhanced by Neur Δ RING (E3 ubiquitin ligase Neuralized without the RING domain), which has lost the capacity to ubiquitinate and can trap ligands at the cell surface and increase the opportunity for *cis*-inhibition to occur (Pavlopoulos et al., 2001; Yeh et al., 2001). This ultimately suggests that ubiquitination of Serrate is not required for the ligand to impart cis-inhibition.

While the model of *cis*-inhibition at the cell surface may hold true, different models suggest inhibitory interactions of ligands can also occur within a same-cell before reaching the surface in an intracellular fashion. These models suggest that ligand-receptor interactions occur cell-autonomously by forming homomeric or heteromeric complexes, which are not present on the cell surface. This suggests a possible association of ligand and receptor occurring in the endoreticulum or Golgi apparatus (Sakamoto 2002). As previously suggested in *trans*-activation (Figure 3), ligand and Notch receptors are located in neighboring cells exclusively, but this is not strictly true since the fate of a cell's functionality as a signal receiver or signal sender is determined by the relative levels of ligands and Notch receptors present. For instance, signal

receiving cells express more Notch than ligand but some of the Notch receptors are *cis*-inhibited by the ligand while sufficient number of Notch remains available to interact with ligands from neighboring cells, making the cell capable of receiving signals (Figure 5a). The reciprocal situation arises with signal sending cells (Bray 2016; Figure 5b). Hence, cells expressing both ligands and Notch autonomously associate ligand/receptor complexes within the cell. Notch participates in formation of the cell-autonomous complexes before protein processing, therefore, a transmembrane protein like Notch is cotranslationally transferred to the endoplasmic reticulum (ER) and modified in the ER and Golgi apparatus before being transported to the cell surface (Sakamoto 2002). It was also proposed that ligand binding displaces intramolecular interactions between EGF-repeats within Notch to promote a change in conformation necessary for the activating cleavage (Xu et al., 2005; Glittenberg et al., 2006).

A. Cell surface cis-inhibition



B. Intracellular heteromeric complex *cis*-inhibition



Figure 4. Hypothesized models of *cis*-inhibitions of Notch and ligand. This figure illustrates the possible ways of disrupting the Notch activation pathway through *cis*-inhibition. **A.** The cell surface *cis*-inhibition suggests the Notch receptor is inhibited by a ligand on the cell surface due to possible disturbance in ubiquitin ligases and could be caused by failure of ubiquitinating ligands from the cell surface. **B.** The intracellular *cis*-inhibition mechanism suggests that heteromeric complexes form between ligand and Notch intracellularly before the ligand, or the receptor make it to the cell surface independently. This implies that the association between ligand and Notch occurs in the endoplasmic reticulum or Golgi apparatus.



Figure 5. Consequences of cell surface *cis*-inhibition on cell fate of Notch signaling. This figure illustrates how the relative quantity of ligands and Notch determines whether cells send or receive signals due to *cis*-interactions between ligands and receptors. **A.** a signal receiving cell expressing more *Notch* than ligands. While some *Notch* receptors are *cis*-inhibited by adjacent ligands, sufficient *Notch* remains available to interact with ligands from neighboring cells, making the cell capable of receiving signals. **B.** a signal sending cell expressing more ligands than Notch. All *Notch* receptors are *cis*-inhibited by adjacent ligands but sufficient level of ligands remains available to interact with Notch from neighboring cells, making the cell capable of sending signals (Bray 2016).

In *Drosophila*, major regulations in the activity and availability of *Notch* receptors and ligands are done through endocytic trafficking, the process of internalization of membrane components, which can be modulated by the activity of different ubiquitin ligases (Kandachar and Roegiers 2012). The requirement of endocytosis in both signal-sending and signal-receiving cells was first demonstrated by the clonal analysis of temperature-sensitive *shibire* mutants (Seugnet et al., 1997). *Shibire* encodes the *Drosophila* homolog of Dynamin (van der Bliek and Meyerowitz 1991) a protein required to pinch off endocytic vesicles from the plasma membrane. Experiments showed that in order to activate the signal-receiving cell in Notch signaling, the endocytosis of the Notch ligand Delta in the signal-sending cell is essential (Parks et al., 2000).

The trafficking of the ligands through endocytosis is regulated often through ubiquitin ligase, as mentioned previously. There are two structurally unrelated RING-type E3 ubiquitin ligases, Neuralized and Mindbomb that promote Notch ligand endocytosis by monoubiquination; an enzymatic post-translational regulation in which a ubiquitin protein is added to the lysine residues on target proteins (Kopan and Iligan 2009). Neuralized and Mindbomb are known to bind to the same ASN-based tripeptide stretch (NNL) on *Serrate*. While it is still being explored, the process after endocytosis to produce more active cell surface ligand is poorly characterized to date. The current models of ligand modification include clustering of the ligand, posttranslational modifications to the ligand, and recycling of the ligand into specific membrane microdomains, which will be further discussed later (Le Borgne 2006). Consequently, if Neuralized and Mindbomb were limiting, some *Serrate* could remain un-ubiquitinated and would reside for longer periods on the cell surface. This would allow increased opportunity for *cis*-interactions, although this would only be true if *cis*-inhibition occurs on the cell surface instead of intracellularly (Glittenberg et al., 2006).

The mechanisms of Notch activation by ligand endocytosis can be described by two hypothesized models so far. The *ligand-recycling* model (Nichols et al., 2007) suggests that a ligand is internalized prior to its interaction with *Notch* receptor in a ubiquitination and Epsindependent manner (a conserved adaptor protein for Clathrin-mediated endocytosis) and then recycled back to the surface with a modification that renders the ligand signaling-competent (Wang and Struhl 2004). Since Epsin is oftentimes not required for bulk endocytosis of DSL proteins, it implies that targeting DSL proteins to an endocytic pathway may be required for those ligands to acquire signaling activity.

The *classical endocytosis* model, on the other hand (Le Borgne 2006), suggests that the endocytosis of the ligand bound to the *Notch* receptor induces a conformational change that allows access of the metalloproteases to the S2 cleavage site on the *Notch* receptor. While *Delta* is still endocytosed in a Dynamin and Epsin dependent manner, it does not require any other endocytic/recycling factors to promote signaling (Parks et al., 2000). The proposed two mechanisms of Notch activation by the ligand are important when analyzing DSL trafficking since endocytosis activity will demonstrate how ligands are usually regulated.

Activity of modified Serrate ligand's Juxtamembrane domain

Previous studies in the Fleming lab have identified an unexpected *Juxtamembrane* (JM) domain, located extracellularly adjacent to the transmembrane domain of the *Serrate* ligand. This JM segment of approximately 65 amino acids long is essential for the activation of the *Notch* receptor (Curlin 2015; Fleming et al., 2013). These studies have demonstrated that the function of *Serrate* varies with the length of the JM segment. A 65 amino acid segment near the transmembrane domain is essential for wild-type levels of Notch activation while a 32 amino

acid segment on the JM region demonstrates only a weak activation of the Notch pathway. The focus of this thesis is to explore how the length of amino acids in the JM region of the transmembrane *Serrate* ligand affects Notch activation and *Serrate*'s effects on subcellular localization in a cell using fluorescence staining methods. The trafficking of the *Serrate* ligand is of essential focus in this study since depending on the extent of activation in Notch signaling, the ligand may be trafficked or withheld in different regions of the cell. Such locations include membrane bound trafficking by Epsin or Dynamin transmembrane proteins. It is expected that *Serrate* may face cellularly localized changes depending upon whether it functions as a Notch activating or non-activing form due to modifications in its structure.

A fluorescence staining method is utilized in the detection of *Serrate* ligands in a cell for this study. The *Serrate* ligand is tagged by a fusion protein fluorescent tag, constructed in the protein through genetic engineering, which was placed directly into the coding region of the *Serrate* constructs previously made in the Fleming lab (elaborated more in later section). A red fluorescent protein tag, tandem dimer Tomato (tdTomato), containing RFP-type termini, was utilized in the detection of *Serrate* ligands by genetically adding to the *Serrate* construct that was used in this study (Shaner et al., 2004). The tdTomato tag was used because previously developed wild-type yellow-to-red fluorescent proteins have been known to be toxic and disruptive when inserted to proteins (Lai et al., 2015) and tdTomato proved to be an accessible dye for this study's purposes. Under a fluorescent microscope, this allows easy visualization of the distribution of *Serrate* ligands throughout the cell.

As mentioned, the Fleming lab has successfully constructed *Serrate* expression vectors with different numbers of amino acid lengths in the JM region. While it was also mentioned that during *trans*-activation, the *Notch* receptors are able to facilitate the cleavage release of the

21

NICD in signal receiving cells to activate Notch signaling pathway, the purpose of cleaving the ligands in signal sending cells is unknown. Nonetheless, the Notch ligands Serrate and Delta are known to be extracellularly cleaved near the transmembrane domain during Notch signaling pathway (LaVoie and Selkoe, 2003). However, it was hypothesized that the cleavage of Serrate functions as a down regulator of the Notch signal (Curlin, 2015). In other words, truncated forms of Serrate and Delta ligands without the Transmembrane region (TM; colored yellow in Figure 6A) and the Intracellular Domain (ICD; colored red in Figure 6A) are incapable of activating Notch and exhibit dominant-negative properties (Hukriede and Fleming, 1997). In order to disrupt the normal cleaving of Serrate, a human Discoidin Domain Receptor (DDR) that are tyrosine kinase proteins that control the interactions between collagen and ligands, were used; specifically, the TM of DDR2 leads to no such cleavage by a metalloprotease in ligands (Fu et al., 2013). Hence, some of the vectors that the Fleming lab constructed had cDNA encoding the transmembrane and JM regions of DDR2 replacing the comparable region of Serrate to eliminate metalloproteinase cleavage. Such a construct would be expected to activate but not inhibit the Notch signaling pathway (Curlin, 2015; Figure 6B). Such vectors are employed in this study to analyze the cellular localization of noncleaved Serrates that are expected to exclusively activate Notch signaling with no *cis*-inhibition.

Other vectors that have been constructed in the Fleming lab and been used in this study include: the minigene (MG), a *Serrate* construct with JM region and ELRs from 7-14 removed that experiences the loss of ability to activate Notch signaling (*Figure 6C*); the minigene 65 (MG65), a *Serrate* MG construct as above with 65 amino acids of the JM region restored. This construct retains the ability to activate and inhibit Notch signaling similar to wild type Serrate forms (*Figure 6E*); Deletion of 4 to 6 minigene 65 (D46MG65), minigene 65 with ELRs 4 to 6

removed which is known as the NIR region (Fleming et al., 2013), removal of such regions results in the loss of inhibitory functions (*Figure 6G*); *Serrate* DDR2 full length ligand without the 65 amino acid JM region (*Ser*DDR2FL-65), full length (with all ELRs) *Serrate* construct with DDR2 domain inserted along with the removal of 65 amino acids in the JM region, this construct lacks the ability to activate the signaling pathway (*Figure 6D*); DDR2 Delta (DDR2DL), a Ser MG construct with DDR2 domain inserted along with ergion, this construct has a normal activation property (*Figure 6F*). All the constructs were generated from the wild-type *Serrate* cDNA sequence mentioned in Fleming et al., 1990. The initial DNA used in this experiment was the full-length *Serrate* (*Figure 6A*) *Bsp tom* DNA in *pUAST attB* vector used for transformation into *Drosophila melanogaster* (Biscof, et al. 2007).



Figure 6. Different constructs of Serrate ligands made in the Fleming laboratory. A. Wild-type Serrate: ligand with an extracellular domain (ECD) consisting of Delta/Serrate/Lag-2 (DSL) domain, 14 epidermal growth factor-like repeats (ELRs) similar to the ones on Notch receptors, Notch inhibitory region (NIR) located at the 4th, 5th and 6th ELRs, a *Juxtamembrane* region (JM) and a Cysteine Rich Domain. Located on the cell membrane is the transmembrane region (TM) and in the intracellular region is the intracellular domain (ICD) with tdTomato tag inserted. B. DDR2 Minigene 65: TM Discoidin Domain Receptor 2 (DDR2) in replacement of the TM region to hinder the metalloproteases cleavage in Serrate minigene 65 construct (65 Amino acids 'AAs'; Figure 6E). C. Serrate minigene construct with only 14 amino acids in the JM region (65 amino acids removed) and ELRs 7-14 removed. D. DDR2 Full Length without 65 amino acids in JM region: wild type full length Serrate construct with DDR2 in replacement of the TM region and the JM region missing the essential 65 amino acid JM regions. E. Minigene 65: Serrate minigene (Figure 6C) with 65 amino acids in the JM region restored. F. DDR2 Delta: Serrate DDR2 not full length - only ELRs 1-6 like the minigene construct (Figure 6D) construct with DDR2 in replacement of the TM region and Delta JM region in replacement of the Serrate JM region. G. Deletion of 4-6 ELRs Minigene 65: Serrate minigene 65 (Figure 6E) construct with ELRs 4 to 6, known as the NIR region removed.

The red tdTomato tag was constructed in the known active, inactive or partially active (*Figure 6*) forms of different vector constructs of *Serrate* as mentioned above. Independent of the property of the specific constructs of the vector, the *Serrate* ligands were observed within the cells of the salivary gland of *Drosophila melanogaster* when expressed by the promoter of the

gene *patched (ptc)*. The *Drosophila* salivary gland is a simple tubular organ derived from an adjoining epithelial primordium, which is established by the activities of the homeodomaincontaining proteins (Haberman 2003). Due to its tubular organ development, imaginal rings that are larval tissues composed of progenitor cells are essential for the formation of salivary glands (Yang and Deng 2018). It is also evident that both *trans*-activation and *cis*-inhibition between the *Serrate* and *Notch* receptor control Notch activation in the imaginal ring (Yang and Deng 2018) which makes the salivary gland ideal for the localization of *Serrate* constructs within the cell. The size of the salivary gland (*Figure 7*) cells also makes it attractive for the subcellular localization of *Serrate* induced Notch signaling such as the wing imaginal discs (Dye et al., 2017).



Figure 7. Comparison sizes of *D. melanogaster* salivary glands and wing disc. This figure shows the size differences of two salivary glands (each with approximately 100 cells) with a duct attached to each of the glands (~2mm) and a wing disc composed of approximately 50,000 cells (~1mm) next to a tip of a common pin.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Drosophila Culture and Strains

For our genetic crosses, we utilized cornmeal, dextrose, yeast food media (Fleming et al., 2013; Hinz et al., 1994) as a food source to maintain the crosses. *D. melanogaster* were all grown in an incubator set to 18°C. Transgenic expression lines were produced by crossing UAS-Ser* lines (where * indicates different modified forms of the *Serrate* protein) with a *Gal4*-expressing *patched* (*ptc*) gene promoter (*ptcGal4*). The *patched* promoter expresses in a stripe crossing the dorsal and ventral compartments in the developing *Drosophila* wing disc and expresses strongly in the salivary gland (Hinz et al., 1994). The combination of the UAS-Ser* and *ptcGal4* constructs causes the expression of UAS-Ser* in the *ptc* promoter pattern.

Construction of Serrate DNA vector.

All the constructs (*Figure 6*) that were used in the study were generated from the wildtype Ser cDNA sequence (Fleming et al., 1990) and each of the constructs was placed in the pUAST attB transformation vector (Brand and Perrimon, 1993). The tdTomato tag (Shaner et al., 2004) is located in the intracellular domain of the *Serrate* coding region (Fleming et al., 2013).

Additionally, for all the constructs that were prepared for subcellular localization of *Serrate*, each of the samples were randomized and were observed blindly in order to contrast the extension of activation in correlation to the number of amino acids present for each of the constructs. In other words, although there were specific predictions that were made for each of the constructs previously, to minimize biases and fabricated assumptions, the samples were observed without any indication of what the actual constructs were.

Genetic crossing and generation of expression lines

The specific expression crosses performed for this study are summarized below:

- 1. ptcGal4/ptcGal4 x MG65 B72/B72 on II
- 2. ptcGal4/ptcGal4 x DDR231 B9/B9 II
- 3. ptcGal4/ptcGal4 x D46MG65 C31/C31 III
- 4. ptcGal4/ptcGal4 x DDR279 A9/A9 II
- 5. ptcGal4/ptcGal4 x SerDDR2FL-65 A5/A5 II
- 6. ptcGal4/ptcGal4 x DDR2Dl A9/A9 II

7. ptcGal4/ptcGal4 x Bsp Xho A3/A3 II (wild-type; constructed previously in Fleming lab) The DDR231 is a *Serrate* construct containing the DDR2 TM domain with an additional 31 amino acids inserted immediately adjacent to the TM and activates but not inhibit Notch signaling. The DDR279 is similar to DDR231 but with an additional 79 amino acids added instead of 31 amino acids. All other constructs are same as the construct explained previously in Introduction.

When the crossing was completed the constructs were grown in the food culture at 18°C until the larvae were ready for dissection to isolate the salivary glands. Each of the germ line batches were identified as *unknowns* in order to not disclose the actual crossing.

Preparation of specimen and clearing agents.

The egg of *Drosophila* hatches to a larva around 24 hours post-fertilization when incubated at 25°C. The larvae would undergo three molts taking about 3 days after which would be called a pupa (Russell 2010). However, when incubated at 18°C their growth slows down by 50% taking about 5 to 6 days until the larvae grows up to be pupa. The larvae have 3 thoracic

segments and 8 abdominal segments from the head during its third stage of larval development (Gilbert 2000). Larvae at the third stage of their development were carefully selected from each of the *unknown* batches and dissected around the A6 abdominal segment (*Figure 9*) of the larvae. The head portion of each larva was turned inside out to increase accessibility of the internal tissues to which the clearing agent is exposed. Clearing agent allows better observation of the salivary gland (located around the A3 abdominal segment of the larvae) in the prepared specimen under a fluorescent microscope.



(Left) Figure 8. Life cycle of Drosophila melanogaster from a fertilized egg to an adult at 18°C (Russell, 2010; modified). After fertilization, the egg would go three instar larval stages of molts during six days of period to become a pupa at 18°C which would develop up to an adult Drosophila.



(*Above*) *Figure 9.* Segmental morphology of a larval during the third instar larva stage of its development (~4 days post-fertilization. Staveley, 2019). The larval stage during dissection is processed.

In order to observe the specimen as clearly as possible different types of clearing agents were prepared to allow enhanced visualization of the salivary glands once isolated. Hence, $Clear^{T}$ and $Clear^{T2}$ (Kuwajima et al., 2013) clearing reagents were made. For $Clear^{T}$, 20%, 40%, 80% and 95% formamide solutions were made by adding formamide to deionized water (vol/vol). For $Clear^{T2}$, a 50% formamide/20% polyethylene glycol (PEG) solution was made by mixing formamide (as made for $Clear^{T}$) with 40% PEG/H2O (wt/vol) at a ratio of 1:1 (vol/vol). A 25% formamide/10% PEG solution was made by mixing 50% formamide plus 20% PEG/H2O (wt/vol) at a ratio of 1:1 (vol/vol). A 40% PEG solution was made by stirring powdered PEG

1450 MW (Sigma) in deionized water for 30 minutes and is stable at room temperature for several months (Kuwajima et al., 2013). Tissue incubation times for each of the diluted solution were 30 minutes for 20% formamide, 30 minutes for 40% formamide, 2 hours for 80% formamide, and 5,6 hours for 95% formamide in $Clear^{T}$ for desired transparency, this methodology is referred to as a serial dilution method throughout this paper. For $Clear^{T2}$, 1 hour for 25% formamide/10% PEG and 5-6 hours for 50% formamide/20% PEG (Kuwajima et al., 2013).

Another clearing agent that was utilized in this study was glycerol. Different dilution series were made in order to gradually clear the salivary glands. This was done by preparing 20%, 40%, 80%, and 100% glycerol solutions by adding glycerol to deionized water. The isolated larval heads including the salivary glands were incubated in the glycerol solutions for 30 minutes in each 20% glycerol, 40% glycerol, 80% glycerol solutions sequentially and finally for 1 full day in 100% glycerol. To improve the clearing of the tissue and to inhibit endogenous peroxidases, 10mM Sodium Azide (NaAzide) was used in the preparation of 20% glycerol's diluting instead of deionized water. Each of the clearing agents was compared in terms of its clarity, clearing ability, and resolution of the *Serrate* fluorescence.

Each of the *unknown* salivary gland samples was observed under Nikon[®] Eclipse E600 with U-III Film Camera System to compare and contrast each of the clearing agents and the activity of each construct that was made. The image acquisition, analysis, and visualizations were all processed using the NIS-Elements d 4.40.00, Nikon's universal software platform. The characterization of membrane localization of *Serrate* is identified when *Serrate* fluorescence along the membrane. The intracellular *Serrate* localization is observed when *Serrate* fluorescence among the cytoplasm.

RESULTS

Glycerol is a rapid tissue clearing agent

In an attempt to find the best clearing agent for the preparation of the salivary gland to view the *Serrate* proteins under the fluorescent microscope, the resolution, and the accessibility to view each gland was compared using different clearing agents. The *Clear^{T2}* clearing reagent exhibited better clearing effects and defined resolution of the *Serrate* fluorescent lighting than *Clear^T* reagent. This was readily seen when the salivary glands were incubated in the diluted reagents series with gradual increases in clearing reagent concentration (Figure not shown since the tdtomato tag in Serrate did not fluorescent in *Clear^T*). Contrastingly, the *Clear^{T2}* reagent did not exhibit better clearing effects when compared to glycerol clearing. When the salivary gland with the Minigene-65 (MG65) and Nominal minigene (NomMG; 32 amino acids long with partial activation) construct expressing cells were incubated in glycerol for 24 hours, they exhibited brighter fluorescence and finer resolution of the *Serrate* fluorescence when compared to *Clear^{T2}* (*Figure 10*).



Figure 10. Fluorescent microscope view of salivary gland with *Serrate* protein expressing the MG65 and NomMG construct. The fluorescent *Serrate* proteins are displayed partially inside the cell (*solid arrow*) and mostly on the cell membrane (*open arrow*). Salivary gland incubated in: **A**. serial dilution of *Clear*⁷² clearing agent with different incubation period (MG65) where *Serrate* is located mostly on the cell membrane (*open arrow*); **B**. Glycerol clearing agent for a day (NomMG) where *Serrate* is exclusively on the cell membrane (*open arrow*); **C**. Glycerol clearing agent for a day, showing a different region of a salivary gland compared to B (MG65).

MG65 construct expressing cells are known to activate *Notch* signaling and fluorescence microscopy reveals that cells display fluorescent Serrate mostly on the plasma membrane (Figure 10A). On the other hand, the NomMG construct expressing cells are known to exhibit partial activation of the Notch signaling pathway, yet display fluorescent *Serrate* on both the cell membrane and in the cytoplasm (*Figure 10B*). When the salivary glands were incubated in 100% concentrated (no dilution) glycerol reagent for a day, the gland cells became distorted with water moving out of the cells rapidly (*Figure 10B*).

When the salivary glands were gradually incubated in serial dilutions of glycerol reagent the resolution and the accessibility to view each gland increased (*Figure 11*) without distortions as was seen in glands incubated in 100% concentrated glycerol for a day (compare *Figure 10B* with *Figure 11B* and *C*).



Figure 11. Fluorescent imaging of salivary glands incubated in serial dilution of glycerol clearing agents in different incubation periods. A. Minigene (MG) construct expressed salivary gland cells with *Serrate* proteins located inside the cell (*solid arrow*). B. Nominal MG (NomMG) construct expressed cell with *Serrate* proteins located on both the cell membrane (*open arrow*) and cytoplasm (*solid arrow* highlighting *the dashed line area*). C. Nominal MG construct same as B, Improved fluorescence of *Serrate* located on both membrane (*open arrow*) and cytoplasm (*solid arrow* highlighting *the dashed line area*), when Sodium Azide (NaAzide) was added only to the first dilution series (see Materials and Methods).

Different construct vectors display varied traffic patterns

The MG construct expressing cell does not have the ability to activate Notch and fails to show localization of *Serrate* protein at the membrane (*Figure 11A*), instead *Serrate* is mostly located inside the cell (cytoplasm). The cause of accumulated *Serrate* in the cytoplasm is unknown. These cells would not be expected to activate the Notch signaling pathways without *Serrate* located on the cell membrane for *trans*-activation. The NomMG construct expressing cells have the minimum number of amino acids to activate Notch, and it displayed fluorescent *Serrate* both on cell membrane and inside the cell (*Figure 11B*). Having *Serrate* located on the cells to activate Notch. The localization of *Serrate* in this construct is very similar to the same construct expressing cells incubated in glycerol for a day (*Figure 10C*) and gradually incubated samples did not exhibit distortion as seen in cells incubated in glycerol for a day. When the salivary gland samples were incubated in glycerol with NaAzide as a diluent, the fluorescent *Serrate* displayed brighter fluorescing effects (*Figure 11B and C*). These results show that incubation of the samples in serial dilution of glycerol exhibit a brighter and finer resolution of the cells under fluorescent microscope.

When the samples with different construct expressions (1-7) were incubated in serial concentrations of glycerol, they showed a clear resolution view of the gland cells with different localization of *Serrate* proteins (*Figure 12A*).



Figure 12. Subcellular localization of Serrate in salivary gland cells expressing different constructs. Each row demonstrates the expression of different constructs (green text), depicting the cells expressing the constructs, from top to bottom, MG65 (1A-C), DDR231 (2D-F), D46MG65 (3G-I), DDR279 (4J-L), SerDDR2FL-65 (4J-L), DDR2D1 (6P-R), and Wildtype (7S-U). Each row demonstrates different viewing areas of the salivary gland: the first column (from left to right; yellow text) displays the overview of the whole gland while the second, third, and fourth columns display the top, middle, and bottom (salivary duct; blue open circles) areas of the overview of gland, respectively. The open arrow (\Box) illustrates Serrate located on the cell membrane while the solid arrow (\Rightarrow) highlighting the dashed line area (\bigcirc) illustrates Serrate located inside the cell. The MG65 (A-C) construct expressing cells shows unexpectedly almost no localization of Serrate located on the cell membrane, hence it should be unable to activate Notch. The dashed line area highlighted by the solid arrow in A illustrates one of the cells where Serrate is located inside the cell in MG65. The DDR231 (D-F) construct containing the DDR2 is expected to have Serrate located mainly on the cell membrane, which is the case as seen in D and E, with the possibility of intracellular cis-inhibition of Serrate. The D46MG65 (G-I) construct is expected to have Serrate located almost exclusively on the cell membrane, which is the case (G and H) except for the salivary duct/bottom area (I). The dashed line area in I illustrate group of cells in the salivary duct area where Serrate is located inside the cell. The DDR279 (J-L) construct is the same case with DDR231 with Serrate located on the cell membrane but more abundantly in the cytoplasm. The SerDDR2FL-65 (J-L) construct is expected to have Serrate located inside the cell but this isn't necessarily the case since considerable quantity of Serrate is located on the cell membrane. The DDR2DL (P-R) construct is expected to have no Serrate localization since Delta

ligand was constructed and there is no restrictive area where Serrate should be located which is the case in images P and R. The *dashed line area* here highlighted in R illustrates one of the cells that has *Serrate* is diffusely located inside the cell. The Wild-type (S-U) construct should exhibit similar localization of *Serrate* as the MG65 construct (A-C), this is not the case. Regardless of the constructs, the gland duct area (bottom) exhibit more intracellular localization of the *Serrate*, illustrated by the *dashed line area* where group of cells have *Serrate* located inside the cell. Compared to the top and middle portion of the gland. All images are adjusted to 20% less bright than the images in *Figure 11 and 10* in post-production, due to their high fluorescence level.

There are different intensities of fluorescent *Serrate* in different areas of the cell when different constructs are expressed. Comparing the location of *Serrate* in a wild-type construct expressing cell (*Figure 12.7S-U*) to cells expressing other different constructs, the different regions of where *Serrate* is located can be seen. In the example of the wild-type construct, *Serrate* is located mainly on the cell membrane (*Figure 12.7 S and T; open arrow*) compared to the cytoplasm of the salivary gland cells. However, this does not hold true for the salivary duct cells, where *Serrate* is mainly located within the cell (*Figure 12.7 U; solid arrow with dashed line area*). The MG65 construct, (*Figure 12.1*) that has the minimum number of amino acids in the JM region capable of activating Notch, should have *Serrate* located on the membrane very much similar to the wild-type construct. However, this is not the case in the cells of the salivary gland or the salivary duct (*Figure 12.1 A, B; solid arrows*). Both DDR279 (*Figure 12.4*) and DDR231 (*Figure 12.2*) constructs are incapable of fully activating Notch with the DDR2 JM domain regions added. The, DDR279 is neither capable of activating nor inhibiting Notch. Both of these constructs have almost no effect on Notch when they are expressed. Unexpectedly, both

of the constructs have Serrate mainly concentrated on the cell membrane (Figure 12.2 D, E and Figure 12.4 J, K; open arrows). The DDR279 expressing cells exhibit much brighter fluorescent effect compared to DDR231. Following up, the SerDDR2FL-65 (Figure 12.5) construct should have much less definite localization of Serrate on the cell membrane but have Serrate mainly inside the cell due to its Notch non-activating ability with 65 amino acids removed from the JM region, and this is partially exhibited in the cells of salivary glands (Figure 12.5 N; open arrow). The D46MG65 (Figure 12.3) construct, which has lost the overall ability to inhibit Serrate, should have the most distinct localization of Serrate on the cell membrane out of all the constructs. However, this is not necessarily the case with few distinct areas show Serrate located on the cell membrane (Figure 12.3 G-I; open arrow) especially the middle range cells of the salivary gland (Figure 12.3 H; open arrow). Finally, the DDR2DL (Figure 12.6) construct with DDR2 TM and Delta JM region replacing the corresponding region of Serrate acts very similar to DDR231 where it cannot activate Notch. In this construct, Serrate is located less distinctly when compared to the other constructs where the protein is almost equally located both the membrane (Figure 12.6 P; open arrow) and inside the cell (Figure 12.6 Q, R; solid arrow).

DISCUSSION

A number of different adjustments had to be made for the specifics of our experimental setup to achieve the most definitive results. The constructs, that were prepared in the Fleming laboratory for observing the *Serrate* localizations, included heat shock (HS) promoters which are specific promoters that regulate the expression of the heat shock proteins (Sorger, 1991). The HS promoters are transcriptional activators of heat shock genes (Clos et al., 1990). The pUAST transformation vector, which was used for the constructions of different *Serrate* vectors for this

experiment, use the HS promoter since it useful for regulating transgene expression. The promoter easily responds to temperature where higher temperatures lead to higher levels of promoter expression. Hence, *Drosophila* cultures, with cells expressing such constructs, are incubated in a controlled, low temperature thermal environment of 18°C to keep the promoters less active in order to generate a low level of the expressed *Serrate* during embryogenesis when high levels of Serrate activity generate lethality. The modified temperature also makes the development stage of the larvae twice as long. One of the beneficial side effects of slow development in larvae is the bulkier body composition of larvae due to its constant consumption of a food source whilst having delayed growth. This is favorable since bulky larvae make the salivary gland accessible to isolate from the larvae during its third stage of development. The salivary gland is gradually cleared to be viewed under fluorescent microscope for a successful localization of *Serrate*.

Different clearing agents were prepared to allow clearing of the gland and support enhanced visualization once isolated. This is essential since biological specimens are intrinsically three dimensional, hence, they can have obscuring effects of light scatter imaging deep into a tissue volume which can be problematic for visualizing the details of labeled proteins and specific pathways leading to Notch activation (Tainaka et al., 2014). The clearing reagents that were prepared (Clear^T, Clear^{T2}, and glycerol) have the overall ability to clear or render tissue transparent, making fluorescent visualization marked for the *Serrate* activity easy to locate within the cells of salivary glands and salivary ducts to attain high microscopic resolution for the images (Richardson and Lichtman, 2016).

While Clear^T and Clear^{T2} were successful clearing agents for observing neuronal tissue (Kuwajima et al., 2013), which has denser tissue content compared to salivary glands, glycerol

41

was the best clearing agent for our purposes. Glycerol has a proficient ability to clarify tissues as noted by other clearing analyses (Richardson and Lichtman, 2016). However, glycerol solutions can be difficult to work with because of their high viscosity (Segur and Oberstar, 1951). Because of this, serial dilutions were prepared when clearing tissues. The serial glycerol method, incubating salivary glands in series of different diluted concentrations at specific incubation periods, had the most successful clearing effect overall. This was especially the case because incubating salivary glands in single incubation period at 100% glycerol made the cells distort significantly, making it particularly difficult to localize *Serrate* in a cell.

Sodium Azide (NaAzide) was chosen as the dilution solution for the glycerol due to its ability to inhibit oxidative phosphorylation via inhibition of cytochrome oxidase, the final enzyme in the mitochondrial electron transport chain, resulting in a rapid depletion of intracellular ATP (Tsubaki and Yoshikawa, 1993; Harvey et al., 1999). Having NaAzide as the initial dilutor of glycerol, not only maintained the osmotic activity of the cells in salivary gland, but also minimized the activity of oxidative phosphorylation taking place in the cells.

A series of complex genetic alterations usually controls the Notch ligand and receptor activities which ultimately signifies the fate of one cell that communicates with another. It is well established that cells utilizing the Notch signaling pathway to communicate with each other express both the receptor and a ligand simultaneously (Sprinzak et al., 2010). Hence, whether a cell becomes a signal sender, or a signal receiver can be a crucial part of its fate and cell decision making. The ratio of the expressed number of receptors and ligands in a cell can guide the developmental fate of the cell and signify the *cis* and *trans* interactions of ligand-receptor (Bray 2016). The models that describe Notch activation by ligand endocytosis and the importance of *cis* and *trans* interactions for the development of Notch signaling pathway from different cell decisions has been the main subject of this study. In this study, we expressed *Serrate* constructs at very high levels using the *ptc* promoter, allowing us to directly compare the effects of each construct with its cellular localization. This in turn, helps us predict the mechanism of *Serrate* interaction to allow Notch signaling.

As previously implied for the Notch signaling pathway, the extent of success in activation is correlated to the localization of *Serrate* that is directed through the different constructs that is designed in Fleming Lab. The specific constructs that express the ability to activate Notch is expected to have *Serrate* located on the cell membrane allowing *trans*-activation. On the other hand, the specific constructs that do not activate Notch may very well have Serrate cis-inhibited intracellularly before it being localized on the cell surface or have Serrate inactivated through cis-inhibited. Through the data that we gathered, it is shown that Serrate constructs that lack the ability the activate Notch signaling are still able to express *Serrate* on the cell membrane surface. This finding is consistent with the model of a *ligand-recycling* mechanism (Nichols et al., 2007). In this model, a ligand is initially expressed on the cell membrane and later internalized for a modification that renders the ligand signaling-competent prior to its interaction with the Notch receptor (Wang and Struhl, 2004). This, however, does not rule out the possibility of the classical endocytosis model (Le Borgne, 2006) of Notch activation since the change in the structure of *Serrate* in these constructs could alter the range of activation for *Notch* (Whiteman et al., 2013). In other words, the cell surface *cis*-inhibition of *Serrate* can be induced in *classical* endocytosis model case where, despite the fact that Serrate is located on the cell surface, it still may not be able to activate Notch signaling due to an undiscovered restriction of the ligand from an alteration of its structural base.

The *ligand-recycling* model is well supported through results observed from SerDDR2FL-65 construct (*Figure 12.5*), a modified construct with the 65 amino acids removed from the JM region in the full-length construct, and a DDR2 region added to create non-cleaving effect on *Serrate*. This construct was expected to have *Serrate* located almost exclusively inside the cell, however this is not the case in our results (*Figure 12.5 H; open arrows*). The reason for having *Serrate* located on the cell surface with such construct can be explained through either the *ligand recycling* model, or the *classical endocytosis* model with the exception of having *Serrate* changed in its structural base hence imposing a constraint on Notch activation (Nichols et al., 2007; Le Borgne 2006)

On the other hand, the D46MG65 (*Figure 12.3*) construct has lost all inhibitory ability while retaining full ability to activate Notch, hence, was likely to have *Serrate* located almost exclusively on the cell membrane. Our data are consistent with this implication where *Serrate* is distinctly located on the cell membrane (*Figure 12.3 G* and *H*; *open arrow*) with the exception of the salivary duct/bottom area (*Figure 12.3 I*) where *Serrate* is inside the cell. The distinct distribution of *Serrate* location in the different areas of the gland (top and bottom areas of the gland show different localization of *Serrate*) is also observed across other construct expressing cells, including the Wild-type (*Figure 12.7*). The Wild-type construct expressing cells have *Serrate* located mostly in the cell membrane (*Figure 12.7 S* and *T*) of the salivary gland upper region but is contrasted in the salivary duct area cells where *Serrate* is located inside the cell (*Figure 12.7 U*). Since Wild-type exhibits such trends, other constructs can also be expected to exhibit similar trends as seen in the case of D46MG65. Having *Serrate* located on the cell membrane could initiate the *trans*-activation of Notch signaling without any *cis*-inhibition to hinder the pathway. This observation is consistent with the expected *classical endocytosis* model,

which suggests that the endocytosis of the ligand bound to the *Notch* receptor induces a conformational change that allows access of the metalloproteases to the S2 cleavage site on the *Notch* receptor (Le Borgne 2006), ultimately activating Notch signaling.

The DDR231 (*Figure 12.2*) construct expression contains the DDR2 region, with 31 amino acids added immediately adjacent to the membrane domain. This construct is known to have specific properties such as not fully activating Notch signaling due to the trimming of the JM region in *Serrate*. This means, since the ligand is unable to activate Notch, it would exhibit strong intracellular *cis*-inhibition where Serrate is located primarily inside the cell. This is not the case from our data (*Figure 12.2 D* and *E*) in which *Serrate* is clearly located on the cell membrane (*open arrow*). Contrary to the D46MG65 construct, the DDR231 construct supports the *ligand recycling* model, where the ligand must be endocytosed from the cell surface to be *recycled* to allow modification of the ligand for successful Notch signaling.

Similar to the DDR231 construct, the DDR279 (*Figure 12.4*) construct has the DDR2 region to prohibit extracellular cleavage but conversely has 71 amino acids added immediately adjacent to the membrane domain instead of 31 amino acids, which should allow DDR279 to fully activate Notch. However, DDR279 has neither the ability to activate nor the ability to inhibit Notch. Our data demonstrate *Serrate* localized on the cell membrane, even more so than DDR231. The fluorescent effect of *Serrate* is especially brighter in DDR279 compared to DDR231, (Figure 12.4 and 12.2) suggesting that having longer amino acids in the JM region possibly allow the cells to have more *Serrate* located on the membrane. While it is interesting for a construct that fails to interact with Notch at all to still have *Serrate* located on the cell surface, it implies that localization of Serrate is not the only agent involved in Notch activity. Undiscovered properties of *Serrate*, therefore, may be the main operator for Notch activity.

The DDR2DL construct (*Figure 12.6*) with the DDR2 JM region replaced by *Delta* sequences instead of *Serrate* allowed us to contrast the activation effects of *Delta* for *Serrate* in Notch activation. Compared to the other constructs, the DDR2DL construct does not have any effect on Notch activity, whether that is negatively or positively. Hence, analyzing the result of this construct is crucial for understanding the mechanism of *Serrate* localization in regard to Notch activation. In this case, the construct did not have a distinct localization of the *Serrate* on the membrane, while there were some observable regions with membrane localization (*Figure 12.6 P; open arrow*). However, in the majority of the regions of the gland, the distribution of *Serrate* was indistinguishable between the cell surface and the cytoplasm with some incident of intracellular localization (*Figure 12.6 Q* and *R; solid arrow*).

Another possibility for the extended explanation for *Serrate*'s unexpected localization is segmented structure, or the missing domain of the *Serrate*. The red tdTomato tag, the main trigger for the fluorescent property of *Serrate*, is located on the intracellular domain (IC) adjacent to the transmembrane domain (TM) of *Serrate*. However, we do not have an absolute confirmation that any of the constructs that fail to interact with Notch are intact. Therefore, whereas the TM and IC domains with tdTomato tag might be intact, we cannot confidently state that the extracellular, Notch interacting domain remains associated. In other words, it is formally possible that the extracellular domain (ECD) is missing from the proteins, hence, it cannot interact with the *Notch* receptor at all, but we are still able to recognize *Serrate* because of the intact IC and TM domains.

The majority of the observed results displayed an unexpected behavior of *Serrate* localization compared to the known nature of confinement where *Serrate* is located mostly on the cell membrane for positive Notch activity. The unanticipated observation of *Serrate* being

located intracellularly for constructs which allow for full activation of Notch, as well as *Serrate* extracellular surface localization for constructs which do not activate Notch, both suggest that mechanisms of Notch activity are not simply dictated through protein location. Whether the *ligand recycling* model or the *classical endocytosis* model is the absolute mechanism of ligand processing for Notch activity is still under review. Determining stability of the native states of *Serrate* in correlation to specific constructs may be of a possible further study to investigate since specifics of *Serrate*'s structure may help us understand the three-dimensional shape of the protein to its involvement with Notch activation. The essential features of protein folding through different lengths of amino acids in the JM region of *Serrate* and analyzing the specific thermostability as well as kinetic properties of the protein may be a great place to start.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

I would like to thank the Trinity College's Department of Biology for giving me the opportunity to part of an exceptional research and my thesis committee for providing me with the support and feedback that I needed to complete this thesis. Above all, I would like to thank Dr. Fleming for guiding and mentoring me through this journey of my academic research as my research advisor. The times you have challenged me and motivated me to think deeply about science have further inspired me to be a better scholar.

LITERATURE CITED

Álamo, D. del, Rouault, H., & Schweisguth, F. (2011). Mechanism and Significance of cis-Inhibition in Notch Signalling. *Current Biology*, 21(1), R40–R47.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cub.2010.10.034

- Andrew, D. J., Henderson, K. D., & Seshaiah, P. (2000). Salivary gland development in Drosophila melanogaster. *Mechanisms of Development*, 92(1), 5–17. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S0925-</u> 4773(99)00321-4
- Artavanis-Tsakonas, S., Rand, M. D., & Lake, R. J. (1999). Notch Signaling: Cell Fate Control and Signal Integration in Development. *Science*, *284*(5415), 770–776.

https://doi.org/10.1126/science.284.5415.770

- Bischof, J., Maeda, R. K., Hediger, M., Karch, F., & Basler, K. (2007). An optimized transgenesis system for Drosophila using germ-line-specific φC31 integrases. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 104(9), 3312–3317. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0611511104
- Brand, A. H., & Perrimon, N. (1993). Targeted gene expression as a means of altering cell fates and generating dominant phenotypes. *Development*, *118*(2), 401–415.
- Bray, S. J. (2016). Notch signalling in context. Nature Reviews Molecular Cell Biology, 17, 722.
- Clos, J., Westwood, J. T., Becker, P. B., Wilson, S., Lambert, K., & Wu, C. (1990). Molecular cloning and expression of a hexameric Drosophila heat shock factor subject to negative regulation. *Cell*, 63(5), 1085–1097. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/0092-8674(90)90511-C</u>
- Costa, R. M., Honjo, T., & Silva, A. J. (2003). Learning and Memory Deficits in Notch Mutant Mice. *Current Biology*, *13*(15), 1348–1354. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S0960-9822(03)00492-5</u>
- Curlin, J. (2015). The Effect of Serrate Transmembrane Domain Substitution on Notch Signaling. Senior Theses and Projects. Retrieved from <u>https://digitalrepository.trincoll.edu/theses/482</u>

- De Strooper, B. (2014). Lessons from a failed γ-secretase Alzheimer trial. *Cell*, *159*(4), 721–726. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2014.10.016
- Deatherage, C. L., Lu, Z., Kim, J.-H., & Sanders, C. R. (2015). Notch Transmembrane Domain: Secondary Structure and Topology. *Biochemistry*, 54(23), 3565–3568. <u>https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.biochem.5b00456</u>
- Dye, N. A., Popović, M., Spannl, S., Etournay, R., Kainmüller, D., Ghosh, S., ... Eaton, S. (2017).
 Cell dynamics underlying oriented growth of the Drosophila wing imaginal disc. *Development*, 144(23), 4406–4421. <u>https://doi.org/10.1242/dev.155069</u>
- Fehon, R. G., Kooh, P. J., Rebay, I., Regan, C. L., Xu, T., Muskavitch, M. A. T., & Artavanis-Tsakonas, S. (1990). Molecular interactions between the protein products of the neurogenic loci Notch and Delta, two EGF-homologous genes in Drosophila. *Cell*, *61*(3), 523–534. https://doi.org/10.1016/0092-8674(90)90534-L
- Feller, J., Schneider, A., Schuster-Gossler, K., & Gossler, A. (2008). Noncyclic Notch activity in the presomitic mesoderm demonstrates uncoupling of somite compartmentalization and boundary formation. *Genes & Development*, 22(16), 2166–2171. <u>https://doi.org/10.1101/gad.480408</u>
- Fleming, Robert. J., Scottgale, T. N., Diederich, R. J., & Artavanis-Tsakonas, S. (1990). The gene Serrate encodes a putative EGF-like transmembrane protein essential for proper ectodermal development in Drosophila melanogaster. *Genes & Development*, 4(12a), 2188–2201.

https://doi.org/10.1101/gad.4.12a.2188

Fleming, Robert J., Hori, K., Sen, A., Filloramo, G. V., Langer, J. M., Obar, R. A., ... Maharaj-Best,
A. C. (2013). An extracellular region of Serrate is essential for ligand-induced cis-inhibition of
Notch signaling. *Development*, 140(9), 2039–2049. <u>https://doi.org/10.1242/dev.087916</u>

Fu, H.-L., Valiathan, R. R., Arkwright, R., Sohail, A., Mihai, C., Kumarasiri, M., ... Fridman, R. (2013). Discoidin domain receptors: unique receptor tyrosine kinases in collagen-mediated signaling. *The Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 288(11), 7430–7437.

https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.R112.444158

- Gilbert, S. F. (2000). The Origins of Anterior-Posterior Polarity. *Developmental Biology. 6th Edition*. Retrieved from <u>https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK10039/</u>
- Glittenberg, M., Pitsouli, C., Garvey, C., Delidakis, C., & Bray, S. (2006). Role of conserved intracellular motifs in Serrate signalling, cis-inhibition and endocytosis. *The EMBO Journal*, 25(20), 4697–4706. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/sj.emboj.7601337</u>
- Haberman, A. S., Isaac, D. D., & Andrew, D. J. (2003). Specification of cell fates within the salivary gland primordium. *Developmental Biology*, 258(2), 443–453. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S0012-1606(03)00140-4</u>
- Hartley, D. A., Xu, T. A., & Artavanis-Tsakonas, S. (1987). The embryonic expression of the Notch locus of Drosophila melanogaster and the implications of point mutations in the extracellular EGF-like domain of the predicted protein. *The EMBO Journal*, 6(11), 3407–3417.
- Harvey, J., Hardy, S. C., & Ashford, M. L. J. (1999). Dual actions of the metabolic inhibitor, sodium azide on KATP channel currents in the rat CRI-G1 insulinoma cell line. *British Journal of Pharmacology*, 126(1), 51–60. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/sj.bjp.0702267</u>
- Hinz, U., Giebel, B., & Campos-Ortega, J. (1994). The basic-helix-loop-helix domain of Drosophila lethal of scute protein is sufficient for proneural function and activates neurogenic genes. *Cell*, 76(1), 77–87. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/0092-8674(94)90174-0</u>
- Hukriede, N. A., Gu, Y., & Fleming, R. J. (1997). A dominant-negative form of Serrate acts as a general antagonist of Notch activation. *Development*, *124*(17), 3427–3437.

- Itoh, M., Kim, C.-H., Palardy, G., Oda, T., Jiang, Y.-J., Maust, D., ... Chitnis, A. B. (2003). Mind Bomb Is a Ubiquitin Ligase that Is Essential for Efficient Activation of Notch Signaling by Delta. *Developmental Cell*, 4(1), 67–82. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S1534-5807(02)00409-4</u>
- Kandachar, V., & Roegiers, F. (2012). Endocytosis and control of Notch signaling. *Current Opinion* in Cell Biology, 24(4), 534–540. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ceb.2012.06.006</u>
- Kelley, M. R., Kidd, S., Deutsch, W. A., & Young, M. W. (1987). Mutations altering the structure of epidermal growth factor-like coding sequences at the Drosophila Notch locus. *Cell*, 51(4), 539– 548. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/0092-8674(87)90123-1</u>
- Komatsu, H., Chao, M. Y., Larkins-Ford, J., Corkins, M. E., Somers, G. A., Tucey, T., ... Hart, A. C. (2008). OSM-11 Facilitates LIN-12 Notch Signaling during Caenorhabditis elegans Vulval Development. *PLOS Biology*, 6(8), e196. <u>https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pbio.0060196</u>
- Kopan, R., & Ilagan, M. X. G. (2009). The Canonical Notch Signaling Pathway: Unfolding the Activation Mechanism. *Cell*, 137(2), 216–233. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2009.03.045</u>
- Kumar, R., Juillerat-Jeanneret, L., & Golshayan, D. (2016). Notch Antagonists: Potential Modulators of Cancer and Inflammatory Diseases. *Journal of Medicinal Chemistry*, 59(17), 7719–7737. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.jmedchem.5b01516
- Kuwajima, T., Sitko, A. A., Bhansali, P., Jurgens, C., Guido, W., & Mason, C. (2013). ClearT: a detergent- and solvent-free clearing method for neuronal and non-neuronal tissue. *Development* (*Cambridge, England*), 140(6), 1364–1368. <u>https://doi.org/10.1242/dev.091844</u>
- Lai, C. P., Kim, E. Y., Badr, C. E., Weissleder, R., Mempel, T. R., Tannous, B. A., & Breakefield, X.
 O. (2015). Visualization and tracking of tumour extracellular vesicle delivery and RNA translation using multiplexed reporters. *Nature Communications*, *6*, 7029.
 https://doi.org/10.1038/ncomms8029

- Lai, E. C., Roegiers, F., Qin, X., Jan, Y. N., & Rubin, G. M. (2005). The ubiquitin ligase Drosophila Mind bomb promotes Notch signaling by regulating the localization and activity of Serrate and Delta. *Development*, *132*(10), 2319–2332. <u>https://doi.org/10.1242/dev.01825</u>
- LaVoie, M. J., & Selkoe, D. J. (2003). The Notch ligands, Jagged and Delta, are sequentially processed by alpha-secretase and presenilin/gamma-secretase and release signaling fragments. *The Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 278(36), 34427–34437.

https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M302659200

- Le Borgne, R. (2006). Regulation of Notch signalling by endocytosis and endosomal sorting. *Current* Opinion in Cell Biology, 18(2), 213–222. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ceb.2006.02.011</u>
- Levin, M. (2005). Left–right asymmetry in embryonic development: a comprehensive review. *Mechanisms of Development*, *122*(1), 3–25. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mod.2004.08.006</u>
- Li, Y., & Baker, N. E. (2004). The roles of cis-inactivation by Notch ligands and of neuralized during eye and bristle patterning in Drosophila. *BMC Developmental Biology*, 4(1), 5. https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-213X-4-5
- Mumm, J. S., Schroeter, E. H., Saxena, M. T., Griesemer, A., Tian, X., Pan, D. J., ... Kopan, R. (2000). A Ligand-Induced Extracellular Cleavage Regulates γ-Secretase-like Proteolytic Activation of Notch1. *Molecular Cell*, 5(2), 197–206. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S1097-2765(00)80416-5</u>
- Nichols, J. T., Miyamoto, A., & Weinmaster, G. (2007). Notch Signaling Constantly on the Move. *Traffic*, 8(8), 959–969. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1600-0854.2007.00592.x</u>
- Palomero, T., Lim, W. K., Odom, D. T., Sulis, M. L., Real, P. J., Margolin, A., ... Ferrando, A. A.(2006). NOTCH1 directly regulates c-MYC and activates a feed-forward-loop transcriptional

network promoting leukemic cell growth. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 103(48), 18261–18266. <u>https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0606108103</u>

- Parks, A. L., Klueg, K. M., Stout, J. R., & Muskavitch, M. A. (2000). Ligand endocytosis drives receptor dissociation and activation in the Notch pathway. *Development (Cambridge, England)*, *127*(7), 1373–1385.
- Pavlopoulos, E., Pitsouli, C., Klueg, K. M., Muskavitch, M. A., Moschonas, N. K., & Delidakis, C. (2001). neuralized Encodes a peripheral membrane protein involved in delta signaling and endocytosis. *Developmental Cell*, 1(6), 807–816.
- Penton, A. L., Leonard, L. D., & Spinner, N. B. (2012). Notch signaling in human development and disease. Seminars in Cell & Developmental Biology, 23(4), 450–457. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.semcdb.2012.01.010</u>
- Rebay, I., Fleming, R. J., Fehon, R. G., Cherbas, L., Cherbas, P., & Artavanis-Tsakonas, S. (1991). Specific EGF repeats of Notch mediate interactions with Delta and serrate: Implications for notch as a multifunctional receptor. *Cell*, 67(4), 687–699. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/0092-8674(91)90064-6</u>
- Reece, J. B., & Campbell, N. A. (2011). *Campbell biology / Jane B. Reece ... [et al.].* (9th ed..).Boston: Boston : Benjamin Cummings : imprint of Pearson.
- Richardson, D. S., & Lichtman, J. W. (2015). Clarifying Tissue Clearing. *Cell*, *162*(2), 246–257. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2015.06.067

Russell, P. J. (2002). *iGenetics*. Retrieved from <u>http://archive.org/details/RussellIGenetics</u>

Sakamoto, K., Ohara, O., Takagi, M., Takeda, S., & Katsube, K. (2002). Intracellular Cell-Autonomous Association of Notch and Its Ligands: A Novel Mechanism of Notch Signal
Modification. *Developmental Biology*, 241(2), 313–326. <u>https://doi.org/10.1006/dbio.2001.0517</u>

- Salazar, J. L., & Yamamoto, S. (2018). Integration of Drosophila and Human Genetics to Understand Notch Signaling Related Diseases. In T. Borggrefe & B. D. Giaimo (Eds.), *Molecular Mechanisms of Notch Signaling* (pp. 141–185). <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-89512-3_8</u>
- Segur, J. B., & Oberstar, H. E. (1951). Viscosity of Glycerol and Its Aqueous Solutions. *Industrial & Engineering Chemistry*, 43(9), 2117–2120. <u>https://doi.org/10.1021/ie50501a040</u>

Seugnet, L., Simpson, P., & Haenlin, M. (1997). Requirement for Dynamin during Notch Signaling inDrosophilaNeurogenesis. *Developmental Biology*, 192(2), 585–598. https://doi.org/10.1006/dbio.1997.8723

- Shaner, N. C., Campbell, R. E., Steinbach, P. A., Giepmans, B. N. G., Palmer, A. E., & Tsien, R. Y. (2004). Improved monomeric red, orange and yellow fluorescent proteins derived from *Discosoma* sp. red fluorescent protein. *Nature Biotechnology*, 22(12), 1567–1572. https://doi.org/10.1038/nbt1037
- Sorger, P. K. (1991). Heat shock factor and the heat shock response. *Cell*, *65*(3), 363–366. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/0092-8674(91)90452-5</u>
- Sprinzak, D., Lakhanpal, A., LeBon, L., Santat, L. A., Fontes, M. E., Anderson, G. A., ... Elowitz, M. B. (2010). *Cis*-interactions between Notch and Delta generate mutually exclusive signalling states. *Nature*, 465(7294), 86–90. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature08959
- Staveley, B. E. (n.d.). BIOL3530: Developmental Biology, Drosophila Development. Retrieved March 22, 2019, from Department of Biology, Memorial University of Newfoundland website: <u>http://www.mun.ca/biology/desmid/brian/BIOL3530/DB_02/DBNDros.html</u>
- Struhl, G., & Adachi, A. (1998). Nuclear Access and Action of Notch In Vivo. *Cell*, *93*(4), 649–660. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S0092-8674(00)81193-9</u>

- Tainaka, K., Kubota, S. I., Suyama, T. Q., Susaki, E. A., Perrin, D., Ukai-Tadenuma, M., ... Ueda, H.
 R. (2014). Whole-body imaging with single-cell resolution by tissue decolorization. *Cell*, *159*(4), 911–924. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2014.10.034</u>
- Tsubaki, M., & Yoshikawa, S. (1993). Fourier-transform infrared study of azide binding to the Fea3-CuB binuclear site of bovine heart cytochrome c oxidase: new evidence for a redox-linked conformational change at the binuclear site. *Biochemistry*, *32*(1), 174–182.

https://doi.org/10.1021/bi00052a023

van der Bliek, A. M., & Meyerowitz, E. M. (1991). Dynamin-like protein encoded by the Drosophila shibire gene associated with vesicular traffic. *Nature*, *351*(6325), 411–414.

https://doi.org/10.1038/351411a0

- Wang, W., & Struhl, G. (2004). Drosophila Epsin mediates a select endocytic pathway that DSL ligands must enter to activate Notch. *Development*, 131(21), 5367–5380. https://doi.org/10.1242/dev.01413
- Whiteman, P., de Madrid, B. H., Taylor, P., Li, D., Heslop, R., Viticheep, N., ... Handford, P. A. (2013). Molecular Basis for Jagged-1/Serrate Ligand Recognition by the Notch Receptor. *The Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 288(10), 7305–7312. <u>https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M112.428854</u>
- Wolfe, M. S., Xia, W., Ostaszewski, B. L., Diehl, T. S., Kimberly, W. T., & Selkoe, D. J. (1999). Two transmembrane aspartates in presenilin-1 required for presenilin endoproteolysis and γ-secretase activity. *Nature*, 398(6727), 513–517. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/19077</u>
- Xu, A., Lei, L., & Irvine, K. D. (2005). Regions of Drosophila Notch That Contribute to Ligand Binding and the Modulatory Influence of Fringe. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 280(34), 30158–30165. <u>https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M505569200</u>

- Yang, S.-A., & Deng, W.-M. (2018). Serrate/Notch Signaling Regulates the Size of the Progenitor Cell Pool in Drosophila Imaginal Rings. *Genetics*, 209(3), 829–843. <u>https://doi.org/10.1534/genetics.118.300963</u>
- Yeh, E., Dermer, M., Commisso, C., Zhou, L., McGlade, C. J., & Boulianne, G. L. (2001). Neuralized functions as an E3 ubiquitin ligase during Drosophila development. *Current Biology: CB*, *11*(21), 1675–1679.